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Each part of this issue has a relation to 
MACVSOG (or just SOG), the ultra-secret 
warriors of the Vietnam War, led by Special 
Forces and helped by so many other brave 
men. They operated behind enemy lines in 
Cambodia, Laos, and North Vietnam. It was 
so secret that all the after-action reports were 
ordered to be destroyed as it was winding 
down towards the end of the war.

First, recent Medal of Honor recipient, COL 
(Ret.) Paris Davis, makes the strong argument that SOG should be 
awarded the Congressional Gold Medal for the immense sacrifices 
they made and the foundational skills they devised, which still serve 
as the basis of much of what SF does today. The article was shared 
with us by Military Times. There is also a link to the letters to the 
editor/comments that they received in response to the article. Those 
responses are also a worthwhile read. You can also join the petition 
to award the Gold Medal and listen to SOG podcasts—see the end 
of the article for links.

That leads right into the story of another amazing MOH recipient, Jon 
Cavaiani. I reviewed the recently published book A Wolf Remembered, 
written by SFA Chapter 23’s Dr. Mike Evers with John Siegfried. They 
delved deeply into Jon’s upbringing, path to SF, combat, POW expe-
rience, and continued service to others after leaving the Army. It is 
a very interesting and informative read, as is Mike’s bi-monthly SFA 
Chapter 23 The SIT-REP:  https://www.sfachapter23.org/wp-content/
uploads/2022/08/THE-SIT-REP-Jul-Aug-2022.pdf  

“Hickory Hill” is a chapter shared with us by Mike Evers from A Wolf 
Remembered. Our cover photo is from when the Marines occupied 
Hill 950 before abandoning it as untenable. The radio relay site 
there, providing communications for SOG’s activities “across the 
fence”, caused SF to try to upgrade and defend the hill. The NVA 
had other plans, and Jon’s astounding actions on Hickory Hill led 
to his Medal of Honor.

In “The Pilot,” SFA member Denis Chericone adds another gripping 
story from SOG’s FOB4, next to Khe San, not far from Hill 950. He 
reveals the participants’ deeply felt emotions from the incident.

You will even find SOG veterans peppered throughout our meeting 
pictures. And you can find a lot more about SOG on our Chapter 
78 website www.specialforces78.com, on our YouTube channel @
SFAChapter78, and on our X account (previously known as Twitter)  
@SFA_ch78.

Enjoy.

How Miller
Sentinel Editor
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From the President | November 2023

Our next Chapter meeting
Saturday, November 21, 2023

LOCATION:	 The Pub at Fiddlers Green
TIME:	 Breakfast – 0800 • Meeting – 0830
LOCATION:	 The Pub at Fiddlers Green
ADDRESS:	 4745 Yorktown Ave Bldg 19 
	 Los Alamitos, CA 90720-5176
	 (Joint Forces Training Base, Los Alamitos)

Greetings! Another busy month is under our 
belt. Our continued association with American 
Legion Post 283 resulted in a shooting training 
for novice and advanced shooters at Oak Tree 
Range on 17 September. Our very own VP, 
James McLanahan, was the chief instructor and 
he put his vast training knowledge to use to help 
the shooters learn and improve their shooting 
skills. Do not forget if you or someone you know 
is interested in taking some classes, James’ 
Company, Primal Risk (https://primalrisk.com), 

is an excellent choice. And as far as shooting goes, Len Fein and I are 
going to put another trip together to shoot some trap and skeet. Last 
time was an awesome time. More to follow. 

On September 15th, the very first Dining Out for C/1/19 SFG(A) was 
held at the American Legion Post 283, 15247 La Cruz Drive, Pacific 
Palisades, CA. The evening consisted of award and promotion 
ceremonies, dinner, a silent auction, retirement ceremonies, special 
guests, and a guest speaker. C Co recognized the Green Berets, 
service members, spouses and families that comprise the unit and 
the Special Forces community and everyone had a great time. There 
will be an article and photos in the Sentinel.

We had our monthly Chapter meeting and as luck would have it, I 
was out sick but, James McLanahan stepped up to the plate and ran 
the meeting. We had another excellent get together headlined by an 
outstanding speaker, Danny Orosco, a VA VSO and retired Sergeant 
Major. Danny has over 26 years of service, most with 1st SFG and 
gave a superb presentation on filing VA claims. He has been working 
through the Green Beret Foundation at Fort Lewis since February 
2023 and he put out some awesome information.

Wade Scott’s organization, the 1208 Foundation (https://www.
1208foundation.org/) is searching for suitable candidates to honor at 
a ceremony to be held November 10th. We are looking for Veteran’s 
from WW-2, the Korean War, or Vietnam. The names and background 

Gregory Horton
President SFA Ch. 78

will be submitted to a selection committee and if chosen, the selectee 
will be presented and honored. If you have any suggestions, please 
reply to me so we can get the names in to the committee.

Do not forget the 2024 SFA Convention, the global gathering of Green 
Berets is October 19-24, 2024. It is a 5-night Bahama Cruise on the 
Carnival Paradise. Ports of Call will be Nassau, Bimini and Tampa, FL. 
The website is https://www.specialforcesassociation.org/sfacon-2024/. 
There is still time to get a berth for the trip. 

Cruise Line: Carnival Cruise Line
Cruise Ship: Carnival Paradise
Destination: 5-Night Bahamas
	 (Tampa Roundtrip)
Departs From: Tampa, Florida
Departure Date: October 19, 2024 

And finally, the Chapter Christmas Party is scheduled for Saturday, 9 
Dec 23, at the Bahia Corinthian Yacht Club. Chris Sorenson, author 
of Pony Soldier will be our guest speaker. We will have the same DJ 
as last year. Should be an excellent time!

Greg Horton SGM (Ret)
President
SFA Chapter 78

Chapter 78 Christmas Party
Saturday, December 9, 2023
Bahia Corinthian Yacht Club
1601 Bayside Dr, Corona Del Mar, CA 92625

1400 Cocktail Hour • Program Start Time 1500
With Guest Speaker, Nils C. “Chris” Sorenson
Colonel, US Army, Retired
Featuring Palm Desert’s Premier Entertainer, Frank 
DiSalvo singing from the Great American Songbook!

Libations • Raffle • DJ and Dancing  

COST
$40.00 per person, same for guests
Special Note: Members of C/1/19 $10 per person.
Please mail your check payable to SFA 78 no later than 12/3/22 to:
Santiago Corp, PO Box 11927, Santa Ana, CA 92711, Attn: Liz Rios
DRESS
Men: SFA Green Blazers, White Shirt with Regimental Tie,
Dark or Gray Slacks, or Sport Coat with Tie
Ladies: Cocktail Attire
If you haven’t sent your check in before the December 3rd, please email me your 
name and guest name so i can have an accurate head count.  Please make sure 
your check arrives on or before the 6th.
QUESTIONS???  Feel free to call or text Greg Horton (909) 762-8597
		  or send an email to sgtpelon@gmail.com

Return to TOC ➲

https://www.google.com/maps/place/4745+Yorktown+Ave+Bldg+19,+Los+Alamitos,+CA+90720/@33.7947476,-118.0519124,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m5!3m4!1s0x80dd2ee44ed3a7e5:0x65bb4c348f0215e4!8m2!3d33.7947476!4d-118.0497237
https://www.google.com/maps/place/4745+Yorktown+Ave+Bldg+19,+Los+Alamitos,+CA+90720/@33.7947476,-118.0519124,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m5!3m4!1s0x80dd2ee44ed3a7e5:0x65bb4c348f0215e4!8m2!3d33.7947476!4d-118.0497237
https://primalrisk.com
https://www.1208foundation.org/
https://www.1208foundation.org/
https://www.specialforcesassociation.org/sfacon-2024/


 Sentinel  |  November 20232

By Col. Paris Davis
Originally published on Wednesday, August 
30, 2023, Military Times https://www.milit-
arytimes.com/opinion/2023/08/30/the-time-
is-right-to-honor-the-vietnam-wars-most-
secret-warriors/. Reprinted with permission.

The nation is commemorating the 50th 
anniversary of America’s withdrawal from 
Vietnam through Veterans Day 2025, per 
presidential decree. But we cannot allow any 
lingering ambivalence on the legacy of the 
war — or anything else — to further delay 
honoring the extraordinary contributions of 
our most covert warriors of that era.

When I recently received the Medal of Honor for the 19-hour battle 
my Army Special Forces unit fought in Bong Son, Vietnam in 1965, 
President Joe Biden said, “It’s never too late to do the right thing.”

Indeed, we are well past time to do what’s right, and finally honor 
the elite U.S. Military Assistance Command, Vietnam, Studies and 
Observations Group, or MACV-SOG, with a Congressional Gold Medal.

This revolutionary, top-secret group operated in Vietnam, Laos, and 
Cambodia from 1964 to 1972. Its members fought deep within enemy 
territory to gather invaluable intelligence for the highest levels of 

government, including the White House. Their tasks included stra-
tegic reconnaissance, sabotage, direct-action raids, psychological 
operations, deception operations, and rescue missions. The group 
targeted the Ho Chi Minh Trail, a crucial enemy supply line for the North 
Vietnamese enemy. Aerial reconnaissance was challenging, making 
the intelligence provided by SOG teams on the ground invaluable.

Casualty rates for SOG reconnaissance teams exceeded 100%, 
meaning every man was wounded at least once and approximately 
half were killed. Of the 1,579 Americans missing in action from the 
Vietnam War, 50 are from the group. At least 11 SOG teams, perhaps 
more, simply vanished.

The covert operations of SOG remained unacknowledged by military 
leadership until partial declassification began in the 1990s. Members 
of the unit had signed confidentiality agreements and their wartime 
activities remained mostly secret for decades. As SOG member John 
Stryker Meyer wrote in his book, Across the Fence: The Secret War 
in Vietnam, “If I died, no one would tell my mother the truth.”

The Congressional Gold Medal for MACV-SOG would help the 
American public better understand the members’ extraordinary service, 
sacrifices, and contributions to our nation. The men of this unit battled 
not only the Viet Cong and the North Vietnamese Army, but also the 
harsh terrain, debilitating climate, and the chaos and uncertainty

OPINION | The time is right to honor 
the Vietnam War’s most secret warriors

MACV-SOG veterans and Vietnamese Montagnards pose together during MACV-SOG heritage week, Fort Bragg, North Carolina, November 10, 2021. 
(U.S. Army Photo by Sgt. Gavin J. Lewis)

Medal of Honor recipi-
ent Col. Paris Davis, US 
Army, Retired
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of guerilla warfare. They served with valor, often in situations where 
survival was the only measure of success. Let’s face it: The nation 
can handle the truth of their service.

Perhaps more importantly, a Congressional Gold Medal would provide 
more robust public acknowledgment to the SOG families who lost 
loved ones during the war. We should shed more light on the pivotal 
roles these soldiers played in our military history. Recognition of 
their service may also bring some healing and closure to them and 
their families.

There’s also work to be done for living SOG members, too. From 
what I have observed at Veterans Administration medical facilities 
and anecdotally, too many of the SOG veterans still suffer from 
post-traumatic stress and other issues.

From a military history perspective, SOG significantly influenced the 
evolution of our military forces. As the origin of today’s Joint Special 
Operations Command task forces, every special operations unit today 
studies SOG history. Their innovative tactics, techniques, and equipment 
continue to influence and set the standard for our special operations 
forces. In 2019, the Army Special Operations Command History Office 
noted that SOG “blazed a trail” in the war against transnational terrorism.

In their time, of course, the Vietnam War-era special operators took 
ultimate risks and often overcame incredible danger — too often with-
out obvious or adequate support. For that, this group of heroes has 
more than earned our gratitude and recognition. The Congressional 
Gold Medal, as the highest expression of national appreciation for 
distinguished achievements and contributions by individuals or insti-
tutions, would honor about 2,000 SOG personnel who came from 
the Army Special Forces, Navy SEALs, the Air Force, the Marine 
Corps, Force Reconnaissance, and the Central Intelligence Agency.

This past year, people have occasionally asked me if I was embittered 
by the 57-year delay in the award of the Medal of Honor. Generally, 
I was not, I said, because, in the end, we saw the best of America 
at work. For decades, friends within the military, my family, and from 
elsewhere around the nation kept alive the story of A-team, A-321 
at Bong Son. I still think often of those fateful 19 hours on June 18, 
1965, and what our team did to ensure we left no man behind on 
that battlefield.

I feel the same way about those who served in MACV-SOG: We 
cannot leave them behind in our nation’s history. For that reason, 
many of us are walking the halls of Congress to build support for the 
draft legislation to support awarding the Congressional Gold Medal 
to MACV-SOG. Please urge your representatives in Congress to 
support the legislation and ensure their legacy of these soldiers’ 
extraordinary service will endure. v

Many readers responded to this opinion piece after it was 
published in the Military Times and also in the Army Times. 
Be sure to check it out at https://www.militarytimes.com/opin-
ion/2023/09/17/readers-react-to-op-ed-on-honoring-vietnam-
wars-most-secret-warriors/?utm_campaign=dfn-ebb&utm_
medium=email&utm_source=sailthru&SToverlay=2002c2d9-c
344-4bbb-8610-e5794efcfa7d.

Honor MACV-SOG with the 
Congressional Gold Medal

Sign the petiton today!

Join us in supporting this petition to ensure that 
these unsung heroes receive the recognition 
they so rightfully deserve.
We’d love to be able to present Congress with 
10,000 or more signatures sooner than later.
Sign the petition at Change.org 
(https://chng.it/t7SWXpxwf6) 
Please share it with others to spread the word.

Untold stories of 
MAC-V SOG. 
Vietnam. 
The Secret War.

Episode 038: Rick Estes – From SOG 
Recon mission to duty in Afghanistan 
with Special Forces
Listen on Spotify, Apple Podcasts, Google Podcasts, or 
other major podcast providers. Additional video episodes are 
available on our YouTube channel SOGCast playlist.
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A whole chapter is dedicated to the support Jon and Barbara received 
in their final struggles, especially by members of SFA Chapter 23, up 
through his interment at Arlington National Cemetery. Members went 
to great lengths to assist the couple, including arranging for super 
clean housing, financial support, rides to treatments, all mixed in with 
heavy doses of love and encouragement. The authors have allowed 
us to share with you Chapter 4 from the book, describing his most 
significant combat action at Hickory Hill in Vietnam. It is quite a tale, 
starting on page 5. v

By How Miller

“Jon Cavaiani was the epitome of the professional soldier.”
	 Col. Roger Donlon (MOH)

This book is a labor of love. SFA Chapter 23 showed much love to 
Jon and his wife Barbara when it counted. Jon’s service with U.S. 
Army Special Forces, as valuable and incredible as it was, only 
portrays a part of Jon, though it represents his actions as a man 
throughout his life.

From a childhood rife with bad breaks, enough to subdue many a 
young man, he persevered to be a shining example of integrity, loyalty, 
service, and love of his fellow man.

The authors, Mike Evers, editor of the excellent Chapter 23 newsletter 
The SIT-REP and more, along with his cowriter John Siegfried take 
us from Jon’s early chaotic life, to his stable upbringing in California’s 
Central Valley, where he learned to respect the workers on the farm 
whom he supervised.

They bring us along through high school and his entrance to the 
Army and becoming a Green Beret. While serving as an SF Medic 
he endured magnificently in extremely heavy enemy contact, protect-
ing his American and indigenous team members, for which he was 
recognized with the Medal of Honor. His unavoidable capture by the 
enemy and subsequent time as a POW,  showed more of his mettle.

He was “put in”‘ for the Medal of Honor, partly because, even though 
he was suffering from multiple wounds, he refused to abandon his 
Montagnards when ordered to do so. He was to be awarded the 
medal posthumously, because he was MIA and presumed dead.

Instead, he survived in captivity and was singled out for “special 
treatment” because he had killed an NVA officer’s son while defending 
himself, ending up in Hỏa Lò Prison, otherwise known as the Hanoi 
Hilton. Many intriguing details draw us in to the experience. In 1974, 
a very much alive Jon Cavaiani was presented the Medal of Honor 
by President Ford.

We are treated to other parts of his career up to his very well attended 
retirement. He found himself caught up in the Medal of Honor Society, 
SOA, and SFA, foregoing resurrecting the farm he grew up on. His 
new-found wife Barbara and he settled in Northern California where 
he dealt with other challenges.

PTSD, Agent Orange, and Leukemia head the list. Throughout that 
time, he was an avid helper of other veterans, including being named 
Veterans Ambassador to the National Hot Rod Association, All the 
while he preached: “never give up” and insisted upon cooking when-
ever he had the chance. He was a loyal supporter of the Montagnards 
and developed a great connection with the Philadelphia area.

Book Review Jon Robert Cavaiani: A Wolf Remembered 
by John Siegfried and Dr. Michael B. Evers 

Jon Robert Cavaiani: A Wolf Remembered
By John Siegfried and Dr. Michael B. Evers
AutoBookBots
(June 29, 2023)
363 pages

Return to TOC ➲
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By John Siegfried and Dr. Michael B. Evers 
from Jon Robert Cavaiani: A Wolf Remembered, Chapter Four, 
reprinted with permission

“It doesn’t take a hero to order men to go into battle. It takes 
a hero to be one of those men who goes into battle.”

	 General H. Norman Schwarzkopf

Soon after the massacre of orphans and monks, Jon was trans-
ferred to the Military Assistance Command Vietnam – Studies and 
Observations Group (MACV-SOG). His commander was aware that 
Jon was distraught over the massacre and tried to get Jon to return 
to the States, apply for OCS, and take a commission. Jon opted to 
re-enlist, gain a stripe to Staff Sergeant, and remain in Vietnam. He 
completed one-zero (reconnaissance leader) training, and became 
involved in clandestine missions across the border of South Vietnam 
into Laos, Cambodia, and North Vietnam. His instructor in the course 
was Jim Shorten, who told Mike Evers that Jon was the best soldier 
in that group of new Recon Leaders.

“I met Jon in late 1970 when he came to B-53 for 1-0 school 
(Special Operations Team Leader Course). Jon came across 
as a country boy, well versed in the out-of-doors.

Toward the end of the course of training, I was his lane grader 
on the field mission. There were eight men on the team, all from 
CCN (Command Control North) at Da Nang, Vietnam.

“We were compromised in the field by the enemy, so I called 
for extraction. The first chopper came in and picked up 4 men 
via the STABO Rig. These are 120-foot ropes dropped from a 
motorized pully inside of the helicopter that we hooked to the 
top of our shoulder harness. The chopper then would pull us up 
through the jungle and fly us out to safety. The next chopper came 
in but there were 5 of us left, so Jon and I hooked up together 
on one rope. As we lifted up, we saw the enemy on the ground, 
Jon commenced to fire his CAR 15 at them causing us to go into 
a spin. Jon was having a great time while I was getting dizzy. 
I started shooting in the other direction to calm the spinning.

When we returned to base camp, B-53, the camp commander 
wanted me to make sure all the men were ready to be 1-0 team 
leaders. I told the camp commander, no way, these men need 
combat time under their belt before I would make then team 
leaders. I also told him that Jon Cavaiani was the only one who 
was close to being a good team leader, but SOG missions are a 
lot more dangerous than running missions in Vietnam, and they 
needed to be seasoned SOG soldiers first.”1

There were times when, on recon, the teams had to lay low and just 
let a large force walk past them. Being significantly outnumbered there 
was no wisdom in engaging the enemy in a firefight. On one occasion, 
Jon’s team came across an unexploded bomb that was designated 
as extremely sensitive. So as not to set the bomb off, the members 
of the team dropped all of their equipment, stripped down to bare 
butt nakedness and called for a helicopter extraction at a point well  
away from the bomb. Their radio call for extraction ended with, “Be 
on the lookout for the naked guys running to the PZ (Pickup Zone).”2

Hickory 	
			   Hill

Jon Cavaiani in Vietnam with his CAR-15

Return to TOC ➲
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until it was finally abandoned on 5 June 1971 when it was over-run by 
enemy forces. Jon Cavaiani was the Security Force Commander that 
fateful day, putting up a fierce counter-defense for two days.

Author’s note: On 4 June 1971 Captain Valersky was the ASA officer 
responsible for the operation of the Explorer system and he had two 
readers on site with him. Jon Cavaiani was the person responsible for 
security of that three-man team and the top-secret equipment. Cavaiani 
had a few other Green Berets, and about 60 Bru Montagnards for which 
he had leadership responsibility.

Hickory Hill (950), near Khe Sanh and the DMZ (The Assault on Hickory Hill: Noe)

Later, on another recon mission Jon was wounded. He was sent 
to a field hospital for treatment and recuperation. After conva-
lescing, he voluntarily extended his tour of duty in South Vietnam 
for another year.3 

Jon’s next assignment was to lead a platoon at a remote outpost 
called “Hickory” which was near Laos where it meets what was 
the border of North Vietnam and The Demilitarized Zone (DMZ). 
“Hickory” was perched just below Hill 1015 and above Hill 915 
and was designated as Hill 950. Hills in Vietnam were measured 
in meters. A U.S. Marine unit had previously held the camp but 
determined it to be untenable. Prior to Jon’s assignment to Hill 
950 (“Hickory”), Sergeant First Class Robert Noe had the dubious 
assignment of security responsibilities on that hill for a period of 
time. His comments, regarding the site follows:

“During the briefing before I assumed command of the defense 
of Hickory, I was told that when it is ‘socked in,’ the only fire 
support we could call on would be the 175mm Self Propelled 
Gun Battery stationed at Camp Carroll. These guns had a 
20-mile (sic) range. When I plotted the distance from Camp 
Carroll, I discovered Hickory would be at the outer limits of 
the field of fire and thought to myself , who the hell would call 
in 175[mm] at this distance unless it was absolutely the last 
resort as any attack on Hickory would be in close, I mean 
Very Close, so any thing (sic) being fired from a long distance 
would not be that effective or precise for the needs of anyone 
defending such a small spot. Often while on Hickory, I would 
look to Hill 1015, realizing it gave outstanding indirect fire 
onto Hill 950 and could not for the life of me figure out who 
the hell would occupy the lower hill, giving any advantage to 
the enemy if he were to occupy 1015. Little did I know that 
the Marines had lost 950 for the same reason and later SOG 
would also. During my stay, I kept all my mortars directed 
toward the top of 1015 and conducted random firings on it and 
over the other side and other areas on 1015. Once Khe Sahn 
fell to the North Vietnamese in June of 1968, Hickory was a 
[solitary]very small dot on the map and deep in enemy held 
territory and anytime the enemy wanted it, they could take it, 
there are many times the hill was completely ‘socked’ in by 
low clouds and there would be no air support and you couldn't 
see crap, much less hill 1015 where the enemy would surely 
position themselves to take Hickory. The enemy could lock 
down the Americans on Hickory by indirect fire, walk down 
1015 and across to Hickory. To me, it was just a bad place to 
be, a bad, if not impossible hill to defend, but that is the way 
it was. My tour on Hickory was June thru mid-July 1970.”4 

Hill 950 or Hickory Hill (formerly named Lemon Tree) was located 
north of the abandoned Khe Sanh Combat Base. It was CCN's top 
secret radio relay outpost atop of hill 950 established to observe 
enemy movement and monitor and relay radio transmissions from 
SOG teams’ operating in Laos. It was the final allied presence in the 
northwest South Vietnam after the siege of Khe Sanh during the 
summer of 1969 (Captain George R "Randy" Givens of CCN was 
given the mission of re-establishing Hickory as a CCN radio relay 
site, the site also housed the Army Security Agency's Top Secret 
“Explorer" system and was monitored by two ASA personnel) 
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Author’s note: The following account of the battle of Hickory 
Hill is a compilation from numerous sources to include: Interview 
notes presented by Pete Laurence; “The Assault on Hickory Hill 
– June 1971” as it appeared in the Special Forces Association’s 
Fall 2013 edition of periodical The Drop; Living History of Medal of 
Honor Recipient Jon Cavaiani video; Interview with Jon Cavaiani 
by Pritzker Military Museum; Library of Congress; BOARD OF 
INQUIRY: SGT CAVAIANI; McKim, Keith; Vietnam: Green Beret 
SOG Medal of Honor Recipients; Yucca Creek Records, 2015; 
Medal of Honor recipients – Vietnam (A-L)". United States Army 
Center of Military History https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=4Se-
Tr-itHkc&authuser=0;

The National Museum; https://www.thenmusa.org/biographies/
jon-r-cavaiani/; various obituaries regarding Jon; and the Citation 
as presented to MOH Recipient Jon Robert Cavaiani. No slight 
is intended toward any previous recounting of this battle, and we 
hope we have compressed the thoughts of many into these few 
pages. Additional citations presented as appropriate.

A saddle ridge connected the two hills of 1015 and 915 with a small rise 
in between designated as hill 950. These were about six kilometers 
north of Khe Sanh, a sight of several fierce battles, the most famous 
being The Siege that lasted 77 days before the Chinese New Year in 
January 1968. With a commanding view of the terrain for miles, the 
mission of the occupants was to conduct reconnaissance, maintain 
a radio relay site, and monitor enemy movement into South Vietnam.

The tiny camp was about 20 meters wide and 50 meters long, clinging 
to a ridgeline like an old saddle on a bony nag. There were steep 
cliffs on two sides, a fairly sharp-drop-off on the third side, and on the 
fourth side a gentle upslope toward the peak of Hill 1015.

Vegetation along the rocky ridgeline consisted of trees (single canopy) 
with lush undergrowth. The vegetation was sparse enough to allow 
for unobstructed view of the valley floors on three sides. The camp 

was surrounded by rolls of concertina wire and a thick earthen berm. 
In the perimeter, there were tall radio antennas, a small helipad, and 
a few sandbagged bunkers for storage, sleeping, and protection.

The purpose of the tiny outpost located within enemy held territory was 
to monitor movement of enemy forces into and out of south Vietnam. 
Sophisticating sensing devices enabled a small team of Americans to 
monitor the sensors, read the data coming into the “Explorer” system 
and report findings to higher headquarters. Captain Valersky was 
the senior individual of that team and he had two readers, Specialist 
4 Robert Garrison, and Specialist 4 Walter Millsap.

Jon and his platoon had responsibility for providing security for this team 
and for ensuring that the highly sensitive equipment of “Explorer” did 
not fall into enemy hands. The Russians and Chinese Communists had 
been trying for years to get this technology and would have paid a hefty 
price to North Vietnam officials for the capture of one of these systems.

When Jon arrived, the camp was in desperate need of much work 
to fortify and strengthen its defenses. Jon called for and received a 
team of Seabee’s (US Navy term for the Combat Engineers) to assist 
with fortifying the small encampment by replacing concertina wire, 
rebuilding the berms and bunkers around the small encampment, 
and reinforcing perimeter barriers. With Cpt Valersky’s calls to his 
higher headquarters a team of army engineers also came to help 
fortify the bunkers and berm around the perimeter, but for some 
reason the request for more concertina wire was not honored. All of 
this in June 1971.

Jon’s “Pack” of warriors responsible for securing the listening team 
and the position to which they were assigned consisted of Sgt Robert 
Jones (John Robert Jones), Sgt Roger Hill, SGT Ralph Morgan, Sgt. 
Larry Page—all Special Forces qualified; a forward observer, 2nd 
Lieutenant George “Skip” Holland (attached from A Battery, 8/4th 
Field Artillery) and finally about sixty Bru Montagnards. The forward 
observer was there to communicate with artillery support units and 
call for artillery fire as needed. A significant problem was that Hickory 
Hill was at max range for supporting artillery fire. Significant artillery 
fire support was unlikely, and gunships were a poor option due to 
time on target and quite often, limited visibility. 

The Explorer team reported significant movement of men and equip-
ment coming from the north and moving south. These reports were 
either ignored or disbelieved, for no interdiction was taken by U.S. 
or South Vietnamese forces. After about one month, the team on 
Hickory had strong indications that the enemy had plans to attack 
and take the hill as they saw significant enemy activity in the area.

Despite being at an elevated location, or perhaps because of the 
elevation, fog, at times, would set in limiting visibility. The morning 
of 4 June 1971 was such an occasion. During the night, a heavy fog 
had limited visibility around the perimeter. Even when using night 
vision goggles designed to see in limited light – such as starlight on 
a moonless night – the visibility was almost nil.

That morning the fog was reluctant to burn off as if wanting to hang 
over the hill like a blanket of fluffy snow. The winds were too light 
to move it away and the sun was slow in dissipating the mist. Sgt 
Roger Hill and three others were outside of the perimeter checking 
security around the lower helipad. Visibility began to improve and 
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Sgt. Roger Hill from Jon Cavaiani’s picture files.

that is when they began receiving small arms fire. NVA forces atop 
Hill 1015 started firing rockets down into the area. Sgt. Hill was 
wounded in the hand.

Ralph Morgan grabbed his M-16 and began returning fire to pro-
vide the four men opportunity to rush back into the perimeter. He 
rushed to an M60 machine gun that offered greater suppressing 
fire against the enemy on Hill 1015. Sp4 Millsap manned another 
machine gun and began to place fire onto the hill and saddle ridge. 
He then assisted a wounded officer and protected him when a 
rocket round exploded nearby.

In the early hours of the battle, Cpt Valersky, 2nd Lt Holland, 
Specialist Millsap, and Sgt Hill Were wounded.

As visibility improved in the morning light, the men inside the 
perimeter of Hickory could see Chinese-made claymore mines 
facing them, placed just outside of the perimeter wire. The lifting 
of the fog allowed them to see, what appeared to be a battalion of 
enemy (700 plus in number) dug in only forty meters away!

On this day, the farmer from Ballico, California who had enjoyed 
working with local villagers in their farming endeavors, and who 
was trained to provide medical care and who had done so much 
for the indigenous people of nearby villages, would be required to 

do things he never dreamed of doing. He would have to fight for his 
life and for the lives of his fellow Special Forces members, and for 
the people of the Montagnard villages who he had grown to love.

The battle was fierce! The green clad enemy were scampering, 
firing, and charging ahead in a mélange of terrifying assaults. 
Some of the enemy had gained the ridge above the camp and this 

Hill 950 – Hickory Hill – After Jon and his crew fortified the hill.
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high ground allowed them an unobstructed view of about seventy 
percent of the camp. Those on this high ground rained direct fire 
down onto the camp. 

Rocket propelled grenade (RPG) launchers poured rockets into the 
perimeter. These also included B-40’s and 2.75 rockets, as well as 
rifle and machine gun bullets. The rounds peppering down limited 
the Green Beret men and their indigenous mates from maneuvering 
into better positions to gain advantage and return well-aimed fire.

(Later in life Jon would reflect, saying; “I couldn’t outrun ‘em, so I had 
to fight ‘em!”). And fight he did. 

Jon immediately jumped to the .50 Caliber machinegun and began 
firing at the claymores to neutralize them. This also prevented an all-out 
rush by the enemy. The .50 Caliber quickly overheated due to the rate 
of fire, and Jon had to stop to adjust the headspace and timing. As he 
was doing so, Specialist Milsap, the ASA reader stepped up and asked 
if he could man the .50 caliber weapon. Jon asked if he had ever fired 
a .50 caliber machine gun and Milsap responded in the negative, “But 
you’re a Green Beret, you can teach me in three minutes.”5 

Milsap was a large man who wore coke-bottle glasses, but Jon quickly 
instructed him on how to operate and fire the weapon and told him to 
keep the thing pointed at the enemy. As he then turned the big gun 
over to Milsap, he realized what the young soldier had done; he had 
essentially sent a message to Jon to get back to commanding the 
defense of the hill. Jon raced from position to position. It was doubtful 
that Jon knew at the time, but it mimicked the actions of Captain Roger 
Donlon on 6 July, seven years earlier, at Camp Nam Dong. Captain 
Donlon was the first Army Medal of Honor recipient of the Vietnam War.

At each position he quickly assessed the men, their supplies, and their 
medical needs. As he moved, he coordinated air-support, provided 
medical treatment, re-supplied the men with ammunition, and encour-
aged them to keep fighting. He seemed to be everywhere, all at once. 

At one stop he grabbed a M-79 Grenade Launcher and lobbed a 
dozen or more grenades at the scurrying enemy. Then he grabbed a 
M-60 machine gun and threw it up onto the berm; when no return fire 
was observed he rose, aimed, and fired. He repeated this move a few 
times, but on one such occasion his face was bloodied by shrapnel 
from a grenade. Still, he continued-on, ignoring any pain or discomfort. 

Jon ran back toward the .50 caliber machine gun because it had 
stopped firing. As he approached he saw that the berm had been hit 
just in front of the gun and it had fallen forward. Milsap, a rather large 
man, was standing up hugging the gun and trying to pull it back into 
position. Jon arrived and helped him and then saw that Milsap had 
taken quite a bit of sandbag fiber and sand to his face. It looked as if 
Milsap’s face had been sandpapered. Milsap told him that he could 
not see. Jon reached up and took Millsap’s coke-bottle thick glasses 
off his face at which time Milsap told him “Ah, that’s a little better.” Jon 
asked if he had a second pair and Milsap told him they were located 
in his bunker, so Jon ran and got them. With replacement glasses 
Milsap once again manned the big machine gun.

At one point, Jon recalled that some of their ammunition was still near 
the helipad and exposed to the enemy. Braving a torrent of bullets 
and explosions, he led a few men to the helipad, and they pulled the 
ammunition into a bunker. 

Then the enemy began zeroing their mortar rounds, which had been 
off target, into the camp showering shrapnel and debris everywhere. 
More than one-hundred mortar rounds impacted in the small camp. 

Jon realized that the only way to get any relief from the barrage was 
to return counter-battery fire on the enemy mortars. He counted the 
number of thumps from the mortars on the hill which told him how 
many rounds had been fired (three). When the third mortar round 
exploded, during a brief pause in the explosions, he raced out with 
a stick and a compass to poke holes in the impact point of the last 
round. This effort would help determine a reverse azimuth on the 
enemy mortars lobbing rounds into Hickory. It was an expedient, not 
a precise, method. With this type of expedient direction and distance 
guide to help estimate the locations of enemy mortars, he directed 
the four-deuce (4.2in) and .81mm mortars at the enemy mortars. The 
process was a long shot, but the effort was successful in silencing 
at least one of the North Vietnamese mortars.

Jon was wounded several times, by shrapnel. The camp’s antennas 
had all been blown down, parts of the berm were destroyed, and a 
supporting Cobra gunship (an attack helicopter) had been blown out 
of the sky. Though they fought determinedly, fending off continuing 
assaults, the camp was pulverized. Nightfall was approaching. 
These conditions led Jon to a decision to have as many survivors 
as possible extracted by air.

The position had become untenable. Cpt. Valersky directed Sgt. Page 
to call for medivac, then rapidly changed the direction to full extraction. 
Page called the Special Forces Mobile Launch Team requesting imme-
diate assistance. To Sgt. Page the call for extraction was a demand, 
but to a desk jockey sipping on a cold Pepsi in an air-conditioned 
structure, it was a request. Shortly they received a response from a 
voice on the radio to go ahead and prepare for extraction; choppers 
were on the way. Three helicopters were dispatched. 

Cobra gunships and F4 Phantoms preceded the medivac helicopters 
and placed suppressing fire on the enemy positions. Two medivac 
helicopters rolled in, one being My Brother’s Keeper and the other 
Curious Yellow.

On the ground, Jon’s “pack of wolves” skillfully provided covering 
fire as Jon guided the choppers, one at a time, into the camp, to 
extract the men out of the camp. Just prior to climbing on board the 
first chopper, Cpt Valersky directed the destruction of the Explorer 
equipment and all sensitive items in the bunker. Jon directed Sgt. 
Page to do so, and Page immediately ran to the site and ignited the 
prepositioned thermite sheets fed by oxygen tanks that lay atop the 
equipment. The equipment in the bunker was soon reduced to ash, 
slag, and melted plastics.

As Warrant Officer Dave Hansen lifted off in Curious Yellow, some 
men were hanging onto the helicopter skids, but none-the-less, they 
got on board safely. While on the ground the chopper had taken a 
few rounds and shortly after liftoff a white smoke began to tail the 
chopper. Chief Warrant Officer 2 Steve Woods watched Curious Yellow 
as it left a trail of vapor. Woods aborted his descent into Hickory 
and followed the damaged chopper. Hansen was able to make an 
emergency landing and My Brother’s Keeper touched down nearby 
to take on all been on board Curious Yellow.
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Later in the day, slicks (unarmed 
UH-1H helicopters came in and 
took a few more off of the hill, 
even as the battle still raged. 
Sgt. Page, Sgt. Morgan, and SP4 
Garrison were included in those 
who were evacuated. Morgan 
later said that he tried to con-
vince Cavaiani to leave the hill 
and leave the Bru Montagnards 
behind.

“[I] did not understand why 
they (Cavaiani and Jones) 
refused to leave because 
the Hill was going to fall. 
There was no way it could 
be defended any longer as 
. . . [I] was the last defender 
on the east, facing Hill 1015, 
fighting with a M-60 [machine-
gun]. Now there was nothing 
defending the saddle between 
Hill 1015 and Hill 950, and 
the enemy could just walk 
across… Cavaiani directed the helicopters that evacuated U.S. 
servicemen and indigenous Vietnamese who were fighting with 
them. But he remained behind. ‘That will tell you the most about 
Jon,’ Ralph A. Morgan, a sergeant in the Special Forces who served 
with Cavaiani on Hickory Hill, said in an interview.”6 

For the eighteen defenders remaining on Hickory Hill the odds were 
estimated to be 23 to 1.7 At about sixteen-hundred hours a U.S. Air Force 
“Jolly Green Giant” helicopter was seen coming towards them out of 
Thailand. That chopper was more than sufficient to pick-up the remaining 
force on the hill. Jones, Cavaiani, and the Montagnards remaining on 
the hill could load as the helicopter hovered with the blades spinning 
and the ramp lowered near or on the ground on the backside of the hill.

But then, the chopper turned around and with only a brief message 
via radio turned and departed without final approach to Hickory Hill. 
Some write ups said that the Jolly Green Giant was called back due 
to inclement weather. In his interview with Pritzker Military Museum, 
Jon recalled that he could see the bird clearly, he was sure that the 
pilots could see the hill, and even as the sun set that day, Jon had no 
problems with visibility. It was a clear afternoon.

The pilot, with seemingly tears in his voice, had told Jon that the mission 
to pick them up was aborted; the pilot and crew were under threat of 
court martial by the commander who called off the recovery craft. A 
“territorial commander” had called for the chopper to “cease and desist.” 
That commander’s feelings had apparently been hurt, because no one 
had asked his permission for the helicopter to enter “his space.”8 

Richard Whitaker and his team sat aboard several slicks ready to 
go in and extract the few men remaining on Hickory Hill. The blades 
were turning, and they were armed and ready. The craft never lifted 
off. The extraction mission was aborted, and no reason for the abort 
was provided.

Morgan had asked that he be allowed to stay with them, but Cavaiani, 
the ranking NCO, ordered him to leave, saying that he and Jones 
would remain with the Bru pack. The last chopper to leave the hill 
that day was full. There remained with Jon and Jones sixteen Bru 
Montagnards. As night was coming on, and with it the blinding fog 
accompanying it, there would be no more attempts at extraction 
from within Vietnam.

Jon and his fellow soldier Jones could have been on one of those 
loads that departed Hill 950 that day. The Americans could have 
left the Montagnards to fend for themselves and then escape and 
evade as best they could. But Jon chose to remain behind with his 
remaining few men. In an interview with Pritzker Military Museum 
much later in life, Jon essentially stated, in essence, that “Because 
my little people (Bru Montagnards) bleed just like I do, I was deter-
mined to remain on the ground to help them.”9

As daylight faded into darkness and with increasing enemy fire, 
there were no more helicopters coming for further extractions. 
Eighteen residents of “Hickory” remained to defend the small bit 
of ground through the night.

Jon’s actions throughout the day had led to the evacuation of 
most of his men and now to a prolonged defense of the outpost 
with but a few men. It seemed immanent that an overwhelmingly 
larger enemy force was sure to annihilate those who remained on 
the ground atop Hickory. Still fighting for their lives were sixteen 
Montagnards, another Special Forces Sergeant from Texas named 
John Jones, and Jon Cavaiani. Jones may have tried to make a 
joke of the situation by saying, “This is our Alamo.” But if he did so 
it was unlikely that anyone laughed.

In an attempt to hold onto the back half of the camp, Jon crawled 
to the front half and prepared a booby-trap to greet the next assault 
wave. He rigged a 105mm artillery round so that he could deto-
nate it at the appropriate time. He placed mortar rounds and other 
equipment around it so that these too could cause harm and/or be 
damaged beyond use by the enemy. Any remaining equipment that 
might be useful to the enemy, he destroyed using thermite grenades.

Then, for the first time in Jon’s combat experience, he strapped on 
a steel helmet. He then issued more ammunition and encouraged 
the men to dig a little deeper. It was his intent to make it very costly 
to the enemy when they again assaulted. Perhaps it was “Alamo,” 
Vietnamese style.

At about eight o’clock in the evening, just as the sun was setting, 
the enemy renewed its assault on the small camp. The few men 
remaining in the camped braced themselves and returned fire as 
best they could. The odds were about twenty-three to one in the 
NVA’s favor. A front row of enemy fired automatic weapons while a 
second row lobbed grenades over their heads as they advanced. 
The Montagnards and two Americans returned fire, but the advanc-
ing enemy breached the wire, crawled up and over the berm and 
swarmed into the front part of the camp. 

That was when Jon detonated the artillery round creating a huge 
crater and literally blowing several of the enemy off the ridgeline. 
With that huge blast the enemy retreated. During this lull, Jones

Ralph Alexander Morgan who was 1-1, 
1-0, of RT [Reconnaissance Team] Rhode 
Island, and 1-0 of RT [Reconnaissance 
Team] Connecticut 1970-1971. Morgan 
was on Hickory with Jon Cavaiani.

Note: 1-0 designates a trained Recon 
Team Leader and 1-1 designates Recon 
Team Assistant Team Leader. Morgan 
had trained in and was designated as 
capable of serving in either role.
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Hearing the rifle fire, the enemy soldiers above reacted quickly. A 
grenade was thrown into the bunker, and it was deafening. Jon was 
wounded, again, by the grenade’s shrapnel, and Jones was wounded 
severely. Realizing that they were surely trapped, Jones crawled out 
of the bunker to surrender, but he was killed immediately by a North 
Vietnamese soldier. Another grenade was tossed into the bunker to 
finish off anyone else inside. Only Jon remained and the blast deafened 
him and caused more hemorrhaging. It also destroyed the last line 
of communication for Jon back to his friends at it tore apart their one 
remaining radio. Up until that time, Americans in the Stinger above 
and back at Special Forces Headquarters had been monitoring the 
entire battle, hearing everything up to the final grenade. 

Hours later, after morning fog had burnt off, reconnaissance aircraft 
could see the outpost and confirm that it had indeed been overrun; 
Hickory Hill was now in the hands of the enemy.

Per records of the Library of Congress under the heading of BOARD 
OF INQUIRY: SGT CAVAIANI, JON R., JONES, JOHN R., WITNESS 
STATEMENTS10 the following gives a clearer picture of the chaos in 
which Jon Cavaiani and John Jones found themselves.

 On 3 August 1971, a Board of Inquiry was convened to determine 
the status of Sergeants Cavaiani and Jones. Witness statement had 
been gathered from U. S. personnel and Montagnard personnel who 
had been evacuated from hill 950. These were presented to the board 
and reviewed. A document dated 9 June offers that 11 CIDO’s were 
interviewed and that nine of the eleven had seen SSG Cavaiani under 
intense small arms fire and B-40 rocket fire. One CIDO stated that he 
saw SGT Jones lying on the ground near a mortar pit. None of the 
CIDOs could confirm the death of either Cavaiani or Jones. Several 
of the statements appear below:

Major Herold B. Quarino provided the following:
“Last contact with US personnel was established 0505454 (sic) 
Jun ’71, at that time the radio operator stated in a whisper, ‘They 
are two feet from me, out.’ A FAC [forward air coordinator] came 
on station 0506034 (sic) but could not establish radio or visual 
contact at that time. On 051250 – 051305H Jun 1971 a UH-IH 
flew a VR [visual reconnaissance] over the site with good visibility 
and observed no personnel or bodies. On 051525H a UH-1H 
flew within 150ft of the site. On 051730 an attempt was made to 
insert a rescue force on the site. The attempt was aborted due to 
heavy enemy ground fire. The E&E [escape and evasion] route 
was not flown on 06 Jul due to unworkable weather.”

Larry Page’s statement reads:
“When I left the site Sgt Jones and Sgt Cavaiani were in good 
condition. Sgt Cavaiani had suffered a minor frag wound to the 
left side of his face at approximately 1700hrs. Both men were 
located at the west perimeter organizing their people for extraction 
this time was approximately 1630. (sic) [pen and ink correction 
made to reflect hours and initialed].”

Roger Hill’s statement reads:
“The last time I saw SGT Jones, and SGT Cavaiani was on or 
about 1130 on 4 June 1971. Both were in good health and spirits. 
They were both in the process of re-organizing troops and ammo, 
while also taking care of the wounded.”

rose from his position near the mortar pit and scampered back to 
Cavaiani’s position on the western perimeter. They then moved to the 
remnants of a bunker to try and consolidate their efforts.

However, about two hours later, the North Vietnamese and Viet Cong 
renewed their assault. At first, they came in groups of about ten or 
twelve, moving more cautiously than before in case there were more 
booby-traps. As their confidence grew, they began to send wave after 
wave of about fifteen attackers every fifteen-minutes or so.

Because Jon had set the few remaining men in positions that created 
a crossfire along the bottlenecked entry into the back part of the camp, 
many enemy soldiers were killed and wounded. It was a long night 
of human wave assaults. It was danger close. After each assault, 
during the few moments of respite; wounded would be tended to, 
and ammunition redistributed.

There were no bombers or fighter aircraft available for support. 
However, Jon was in contact with a Stinger orbiting overhead. It was 
a C-119 with a Gatling Gun that would put bursts of 7.62 rounds on 
the perimeter. The Stinger also dropped illumination flares. The flares 
gave an eerie effect to the life and death drama. 

Jones manned the radio communications, while Jon and the 
Montagnards fought gamely. Jon used the machineguns and focused 
the direction of fire of the remaining few. Through the night they with-
stood the incessant barrage of rocket fire, mortars, and small arms 
fire; they beat back wave after wave of charging enemy.

Shortly after 0500 hours, but just prior to the NVA breaching the 
perimeter in mass, Jon and Sgt. Jones passed the word to the 
Montagnards to try and escape off the mountain. Knowing that they 
could not hold out much longer, Jon ordered the Montagnards to “di 
di mau” (boogie out of the camp) and had Jones call for the Stinger 
to fire on their position. As they all headed over one of the steepest 
slopes of the hill, Jon was shot in the back near the spine. His men 
came back to help him, but he ordered them to go. He covered their 
escape with blazing M-60 machine gun fire.

When the enemy took control of Hickory. Jon had Sgt. Jones contact 
the Stinger and have them fire on the camp again as they dove into a 
sandbagged bunker. For some unknown reason, the Stinger did not fire 
on the enemy swarming the hill. The fire power of the Gatling Guns on 
board the stinger would have likely annihilated the swarming NVA and 
allowed Jones and Cavaiani to escape. With no Stinger support firing 
directly on the hill, the two Americans huddled in the small bunker, about 
seven-by-seven feet in size, and waited. The bunker had a thick sand-
bagged cover and only one trench-like slit for entry and egress. Patiently 
they waited for the inevitable moment of their discovery, preparing to 
kill silently with their knives or more likely, to be killed by the enemy.

The enemy death toll was somewhere between three and four hundred. 
The North Vietnamese were initially so excited about taking the hill 
that they failed to search the bunkers. But then, two of them came 
to the access and entered one at the time. Jon let the first man go 
past him, then swiftly killed the second man with his Gerber. Jones 
took on the lead man, but in that struggle, despite killing the North 
Vietnamese soldier, shots were fired, which alerted the enemy above. 
One of these two NVA soldiers was the son of a NVA Colonel. Jon 
would pay dearly for that later. 
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A transcription of Ralph Morgan’s statement follows:

“At approximately 1945 on 4 June I departed the radio relay site, 
on the last extraction of the day. At this time, I saw SGT Cavaiani 
and SGT Jones both in good health. However, SGT Cavaiani had 
suffered a fragmentation wound to the face and both men were 
in low spirit. I was the last American to see either of these men.”

A statement taken by a U. S. Army officer from a Montagnard soldier 
named Tung states (through a translator):

“…CMD Tung states that he witnessed one American with a 
mustache (Sgt Cavaiani) being shot by an NVA, from close range, 
with remaining American at the vicinity of a mortar pit, receiving 
a heavy volume of SAF(small arms fire) and hand grenades.’’

A different soldier named Tung wrote his own statement and signed 
his name in cursive:

“At 0400 hours I was in a bunker on the west side of the radio 
relay. I saw SGT Cavaiani fire his CAR-15 at an NVA soldier and 
kill him. Another NVA, approx. 3 meters from SGT Cavaiani fired 
an AK-47 and I saw SGT Cavaiani fall to the ground. At approx. 
0500 hours I saw SGT Jones crawling to the mortar pit in the 
center of the perimeter. The last time I saw SGT Jones he was 
near the mortar pit and receiving many hand grenades and small 
arms fire. The hilltop was covered with fog, and I could not see 
well. I left the hill at 0510 hours.”

Yet another CIDG soldier named Ai-Ta provided the following through 
an interpreter about what he observed on the morning of 05 June 1971:

“From his bunker on the western perimeter, CIDO AI-TA OBS 
one American lying on the ground near a mortar pit inside the 
perimeter. He observed a possible B-40 rocket, or mortar round 
explode 2 to 3 feet from the American. CIDG AI-TA also observed 
one other American lying near the western perimeter, and SAF 
[small arms fire] fire being placed on and around the American.”

A CIDG soldier named A Van provided the following:

“At 0530 hours 5 June 1971 I saw enemy advancing and saw 
SGT Cavaiani kill or wound 25-30 enemy with M-60 MG fire. 
Approximately 2 minutes later SGT Cavaiani was wounded by a B-40 
rocket and was screaming. A second B-40 rocket hit the position 
and there was no sound from SGT Cavaiani. The last time I saw 
SGT Jones he was in the mortar pit. I left the hill at 0545 hours.”

From one named KINH:

“At 0530 hours 3 [sic] June 1971 I saw enemy advancing and 
SGT Cavaiani fired on them with the M60 MG killing or wounding 
20-30 enemy, SGT Cavaiani continued to fire for 1-2 minutes. A 
B-40 rocket was fired into SGT Cavaiani’s position and I heard 
him scream. I saw SGT Jones lying two meters from the mortar 
pit. At 0545hours I left the hill after yelling for SGT Cavaiani and 
getting no answer.”

Similar reports were rendered by CIDG personnel A-Vat, Phong, 
Xang, Quang,Nui, Va-Chuai, Quai, and A-Cum. These individuals 
reported that it was still dark and foggy when they departed the hill 
about 0540 hours.

Having considered the statements presented, the board prepared a 
document dated 20 August lending closure to the investigation. The 
document bears the concurrence the Commanding General, United 
States Army, Vietnam that Sgt. Jon R. Cavaiani and Sgt. John R. 
Jones should be listed as missing in action.

Soon thereafter, for having held out so valiantly, for having saved so 
many lives of his men, and for having killed so many of the enemy, Jon 
was recommended for the Medal of Honor. Cpt. Valersky submitted 
the recommendation as a posthumous award.

Sadly, for Sergeant John Jones the board was incorrect. However, 
the board was correct in Jon Cavaiani’s case, for he was not 
yet dead. After the last grenade, Jon had played dead which wasn’t 
too difficult at that point. A North Vietnamese soldier had entered the 
bunker and checked him out, then threw Jones’ dead body on top of 
him. The tarp paper that lined the bunker was then set on fire. Using 
his willpower, Jon stayed inside, as long as possible, withstanding the 
choking smoke and boiling heat that seared his hands, back and face. 

Forced by the unbearable situation, he finally crawled out of the bunker 
to face whatever fate awaited him. Fortunately, the group of enemy 
soldiers that had burned the bunker had moved on to other interests. 
This allowed Jon time to crawl into yet another bunker.

The “new” bunker had been partially destroyed by a rocket, so Jon 
hid among the debris. He was still determined to eliminate any enemy 
who might find him. As daylight began to appear in its foggy form, he 
watched legs pass back and forth for what seemed like an eternity.

Eventually a soldier entered the bunker and began to probe around. 
When he pulled the cover off Jon, he was shocked and too surprised to 
speak or yell. Jon’s knife went forcefully into the man’s heart. Muffling 
the man’s gurgling, Jon tried to pull the knife out, but it was stuck 
in the man’s sternum. As he pulled, the burned meat of his hands 
started to rip. Leaving the knife protruding from the man’s chest, Jon 
crawled under a bunk that had survived the night, then passed out.

When Jon came to, there were two enemy soldiers in the bunker. 
Again, Jon feigned death. One of the enemy soldiers sat on the bunk 
and reached down, grabbed Jon’s leg, and raised Jon’s leg by the 
ankle. The man turned Jon’s foot slightly, studying the size of his boots 
perhaps for fit on his own feet. It must not have been a good fit, for 
the man dropped the leg and continued rummaging in the bunker. 
He left shortly thereafter. 

Summoning all his strength, Jon stealthily crawled out into the fog, 
slithered over the earthen berm, and down the steep sides of the 
mountain. Shot, torn by shrapnel, badly burned, yet scared enough 
to overcome the pain, he headed through the jungle toward Dong Ha.

“By this time, I was crazy. And just did not want to get caught,” 
Jon would later recall in an interview with Soldier magazine.11 

Deafened by the grenade, he moved only at night. He tried to re-call 
and use the Escape and Evasion training received in the Special Forces 
course at Fort Bragg (called SERE: Survival, Evasion, Resistance, and 
Escape). Hunger, sleep deprivation, and self-reliance had been part of 
that training; but now it was real – this was his life that he was fighting 
for – not just a medal or certificate. He reflected on his life on Ugo’s 
farm. To survive, chores needed to be done. There was no choice.
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but dangling outside his body. There were signs of other grotesque 
indecencies to include severing his penis and testicles. All surely 
culminated in a most agonizingly slow death.

Near Hill 1015, Jon’s arms were tied behind his back and a T-Bar 
was slid through so that he was hoisted off the ground. Spasms of 
pain coursed through his already torn and bloodied body. They beat 
him and pounded him as he hung suspended. Each blow to his body 
brought excruciating pain, not only to the targeted spots, but to his 
arms and shoulders as he bounced up and down in his suspended 
state. But all Jon would provide was his name, rank, and serial num-
ber. After long and excruciating amounts of abuse, Jon still refused 
to provide the North Vietnamese Army (NVA) interrogator the desired 
response. The interrogator then had five Bru Montagnards brought 
forward. These were five of the men who had served with Jon at 
Hickory. They, too, had been captured. The interrogator told Jon to 
respond to all questions or he would kill each of these men in turn.

Jon responded with, “Cavaiani, Jon, Staff Sergeant…” when he was 
cut off by the noise of a pistol being fired. As Jon started to speak, 
the Interrogator had casually raised his pistol and shot the nearest 
Bru Montagnard. Jon said, “You can kill them all and me, too, but you 
still will get nothing from me.” The NVA officer again raised his pistol 
to the temple of a second Bru and pulled the trigger.

Photo of Hill 950 0n 5 June 1971 taken by W.O. Dave Hansen during Recon Flight to determine the extent of damage and ascertain the potential for locating 
U. S. personnel who might have survived the battle.

During Jon’s interview at the Pritzker Military Museum interview, 
he told the audience that, and we paraphrase here, he learned that 
when eating insects, it is best to first remove their legs. Otherwise, 
the critters would try to crawl back out.

By moving only at night, he avoided the enemy over the next few 
days, covering several kilometers, and finally approaching Camp 
Fuller. He elected to await daylight so as not to be mistaken for an 
enemy saboteur/sapper. But while waiting for daylight to make his 
presence known, a Vietcong soldier who had been tracking him and 
others who had crawled down the slopes of Hill 950 stumbled upon 
him. The Vietcong soldier looked to be about sixty years old and 
was shaking as he pointed his rifle at Jon. Because of the man’s 
nervousness, and because Jon was exhausted, he did not resist. At 
gunpoint, Jon was marched all the way back to near Hickory, and 
to enemy interrogation in a Vietcong encampment. The march back 
was not easier, but it was faster in the daylight.

Jon imagined what might be in store for him. He recalled an earlier 
time when he had found the remains of a Special Forces friend who 
had been captured by the communists. Found two days after the 
capture, the body was still warm but dead. They had popped the 
soldier’s eyes, perhaps with sharpened bamboo sticks that lay nearby 
and bloodied, gutted his intestines so that they were still attached 
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Jon remained silent. Seeing that this method was not making Jon talk, 
the North Vietnamese officer had the beating resumed. In defiance 
Jon said, “My grandmother hits harder than that.” They then went to 
hitting him with rifle butts, pistol whipping him, and kicking him. In 
doing so they fractured three vertebrae in his neck and three in his 
lower back. Repeatedly, he fell unconscious from the blows.

Eventually, Jon was lowered to the ground where, after some time, 
he regained consciousness. When he did so he noted that his facial 
wounds and hands had been rudimentarily bandaged and that he was 
dressed in an American flight suit. He was then forced to stand and 
walk in a specified direction. It was when they approached a village 
below the Vietcong encampment that he realized that he was to be 
paraded through villages as if he were a pilot of a US jet that had 
been shot down. The bandages were designed to show that proper 
treatment was being provided.

“So, this political officer (North Vietnamese) had the villagers all 
riled up (because there had recently been U. S bombing raids in 
the area). – The political officer had announced to the villagers 
that he was bringing a U. S. pilot though their village – a pilot who 
had recently bombed their region - They all had their sticks, and 
they were going to beat this pilot as he was paraded through their 
village. But the political officer screwed up because he removed 

SSG Jon Cavaiani reporting to President John F. Kennedy on 12 December 1974 after being awarded the Congressional Medal of Honor.

the flight helmet that had been placed on me. Well, this little old 
grandma got right up into my face, and all of a sudden, she let 
out with a loud, ‘Boxie (sic) Jon!’ ‘She had recognized me.’ Jon 
had helped deliver four babies in that village and one of them 
was the grandma’s grandchild. Well, the political officer lost face 
(with the villagers.) because he had lied.”[45]

Author’s note: Lying and falsification are unacceptable behaviors in 
most Asian cultures and brings significant shame upon the person 
and the family.

Local farmers joined in waving to him and calling to him. They 
recalled how that “Bác Sĩ Jon” had helped them with their farming 
techniques. The villagers knew how he had cared for their children 
and had delivered some of them into this world. They knew that he 
was not a jet pilot. They knew him as a caring and compassionate 
farmer and medic. That he had been in the dull position of regional 
veterinarian was cause for the villagers to have fond remembrance 
of him. Their calling to him on that day may well have saved his life.         

With the NVA political officer having lost face for putting on a pretense, 
Jon was spared. As he departed the village for a new, but unknown 
destination, Jon saw the Political Officer one last time – he had been 
tied to a tree.
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Sergeant Major Jon Cavaiani leading thousands of veterans saluting the 
Flag at Barb Borowiec’s Annual Harley Davidson’s Freedom ride from Barb’s 
dealership in Collingswood, NJ to McGuire Joint Base New Jersey 2009

Jon marched on foot across the DMZ. After a time, he was placed 
in the back of a truck for a short distance and then placed on a train 
for the long trip to Hanoi. While on the train Jon recognized some 
of the Bru Montagnards who had been with him on Hill 950. There 
was hardly a handful. He quietly whispered to one but there was no 
response. He then asked why they would not speak with him. One 
quietly responded, “The train has many eyes and ears.” About 20 
miles short of Hanoi, the train stopped and the Montagnards who 
had served with him were taken away; hopefully to a prison camp for 
South Vietnamese but probably to a re-education and indoctrination 
camp. It is likely that none survived.

As the Montagnards were moved off the train, Jon saw a Vietnamese 
man who he knew to be an interpreter on Hill 950 step from the train 
and, discarding his South Vietnamese Army jacket, donned a North 
Vietnamese jacket bearing the rank of Lieutenant. He was both 
welcomed and saluted by the North Vietnamese. Bile rose in Jon’s 
throat and he vomited.

Over the next twenty-three months, he was held in such infamous 
prisons as Plantation Gardens, The Zoo, and the Hanoi Hilton.

To the Army Jon was presumed dead but listed as MIA. To some 
of his hopeful family and friends he was missing. To himself he was 
just worn down, aching, and tired - but happy to be alive. His wounds 
were crudely bandaged, but the bullet lodged in his back was not 
removed. As for the numerous fragments of shrapnel in his flesh, he 
was forced to sharpen a bamboo stick and remove as many of them 
as he could himself. Some fragments, fibers, rocks, and sand would 
have to wait for extraction at some later date or just stay in place. v
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By Denis Chericone
It was raining lightly, waving in sheets across the FOB. A barrage had 
been raging for over an hour and so far we’d been lucky, no wounded 
or worse. I stood in the main trench trying to keep dry while watching 
the F-fours bomb the shit out of the far side of the ridge where the 
farmers were forming up to assault us. A couple of marines stood 
nearby cheering every time there was an explosion. I agreed, heartily. 
We were staying low. Gunshots stuttered through their own echoes 
and we had grown cautious of too much exposure. Enemy snipers 
were now active and Clipper had pulled me out of the way after a 
thinly smoking hole appeared in a sandbag near my head. Yeah, 
another quickly followed. As we crouched, Clip stuck his fist above 
the rim of our trench, middle finger extended, and began moving it 
back and forth like a carny target. As I shook my head he looked at 
me with that impish smirk and said, “If that asshole was any good I’d 
be picking your brains up right now.” He was right. He’d saved my 
nut and I started laughing.

The Phantoms were coming in only a few hundred feet over target 
dropping high explosives and napalm, trying to scatter the farmers 
before they could attack. It was turning into quite a show. As the 
napalm boiled the air and the barrages grew thicker you could barely 
hear yourself think. There’s a point in any battle where it cannot get 
any louder. We’d passed that soon after it all began. Everybody was 
pissed off and everything was a “Fuck you!” The jet jockeys were rolling 
the dice daring the farmers to bring them down while trying to help us 
any way they could. I heard guys mutter Steel Balls more than once.

The flyers were taking heavy ground fire from the farmer formations 
who were learning fast. At one time they would shoot at the aircraft 
rarely leading it, but lately they’d begun grouping a dozen or so men 
to shoot ahead of the plane. Now our guys had to fly into the waiting 
bullet swarms. It worked well this time. As a Phantom lowed down into 
his strafing channel and I mean low, brother, just a couple of hundred 
feet above the deck, if that, a large bulb of flame ballooned out of 
his exhaust. We watched the canopy pop off as the pilot ejected. His 
craft slammed into a low hill and disappeared in a cratering fireball. 
He was maybe three or four hundred feet in the air when his chute 
opened. Down he came. The marines began yelling bitterly, “He’s 
dead, man! He’s a goner! Right into the middle of the Dinks!” The pilot 
and chute disappeared beyond the ridge and we rippled knowing the 
farmers were going to nail him. Suddenly, I heard Bob’s voice yelling 
my name. “Kid! Kid! C’mon, we gotta go!”

“Go? Go where?” I asked, looking up from the trench as my dread 
instantly intensified. Ah, the old They’re trying to kill me again routine.

The Pilot
“We’re gonna go get that guy.” he said smiling before he hurried away. 
“The pilot?” I yelled astounded.

He turned, “Yeah, c’mon. We don’t have much time.”

I grabbed my weapon and as I climbed out of the trench I was mut-
tering “No, no, he’s gone. They got him.” I heard a chopper coming 
in as the barrage intensified and we ran towards the FOB’s LZ.

We laid low in a hole as the barrage casually shifted directions. When 
the helo whirled to a hover near us the barrage began creeping back 
towards us. At the right moment we made the dash, and then we were 
in, up and on our way. Bob was smiling and laughing big time as if he’d 
just won a bet. He loved impromptu flirtations with getting your ass 
shot off. It kind of fit our situation. He was contagious. I looked at him, 
“Mommy, are we gonna die?” He gave me the peace sign and laughed 
some more and as I armed up the crew chief swung his machine gun 
towards our destination. As we came over the rise I began thinking, 
“Don’t worry. It doesn’t matter. You’ll be dead before you know it.”

I expected to see a bazillion farmers aiming at us, but there was only 
a mushed-up chute a few hundred yards distant billowing in a narrow 
ravine and a lone figure slogging through the mucky earth. It was our 
guy. When he saw us he started waving wildly and as we flew at him 
I heard the hollow sound of a few hits bopping our ship’s frame. We 
skirted the ground and as we neared our boy Bob and I jumped off in 
a dead run. The pilot could barely walk, but he was game and gave 
it everything he had left. When we got him on the ship he collapsed 
into a sweat-stained shivering ball and Bob immediately gave him a 
deep once-over. I’d forgotten about getting wasted beneath the effort 
of getting him aboard. The crew chief brought it all home when he 
opened up with his fifty. Then I suddenly remembered something about 
dying as we lifted off. I was surprised. There weren’t many zzzt’s of 
bullets aside from a few hollow metallic thunks into the side of the 
ship. The crew chief yelled something to me and pointed his weapon 
to the crest of the ridge a few hundred yards distant. I looked and 
saw some dark smudges oozing over the brow. He let loose and we 
lifted off just as I fired a burst at the smears. Then we were over the 
rise. In the distance I saw more smudges moving over the blasted 
landscape towards where we’d been.

Definitely not our guys. Bob held the pilot’s hand and was saying 
something to him as he stared blankly into nowhere. I remember 
thinking then that maybe our guy was realizing he’d come back from 
the dead. I still think it’s strange. I’ve forgotten most of the little details 
of being shot at and bombed on, but I remembered this small thought 
from that moment in the helo. We took a few more hits and then were 
touching down on our LZ before any of us knew it.

The helo left and we dodged the barrage well enough to get him down 
into the med bunker. He was weak and disoriented and I wondered if 
he was able to believe he was safe. He was what I could only describe 
as consciously unconscious, you know, he wore a haze.

Bob sat him on a stretcher for a closer exam and was trying to be as 
reassuring as he could. I got him some water which he greedily drank 
and immediately choked on. He was a large man and an Air Force 
colonel, a sign he was a “hands on” kind of guy. He’d broken all the 
rules by skimming the targets; but he and his boys had succeeded in 
breaking up the assault. We were humbled, grateful and definitely in 
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awe of his band of madmen. We knew what that kind of flying took. 
Suddenly, he was talking excitedly to us about the mission and then 
promptly fell off the stretcher onto the muddy floor where he began 
crying uncontrollably. We didn’t expect it at all and when he rose to 
his knees and hugged my legs tears darkening the caked mud on 
his face I couldn’t speak.

Stammering, he hoarsely croaked, “I would be a dead man if you 
guys hadn’t…”

Bob tried lifting him up; but the pilot was elsewhere right now.

“I know they would have gotten me. I saw them! They were already 
shooting. I wouldn’t be here if you hadn’t come. You guys saved me! 
You saved me!”

Bob and I gently helped him back to the stretcher as he retired 
into quiet sobs and I think it was then, I’m not sure, that I wanted to 
start crying myself. I never told this to anyone else except Bob later 
that night after things had settled down. Unexpectedly, he told me 
the same thing describing the moment as poignant. I agreed with 
everything I had. What other kind of feeling could you draw out of 
this? Bob was always sympathetic. It was hard to piss him off. He had 
that rare quality of active and enduring mercy. The kind that never 
dies. At Khe Sanh it was an essential if not distinctive virtue, a bit of 
grace within the chaos, a necessary recourse when darkness ruled. 
Without it, I simply cannot imagine.

Pitbull and Q showed up and quickly put the moment together. They 
introduced themselves and softly asked the colonel to come down with 
them to the command bunker. They attended to their brother officer 
very respectfully, almost solemnly. This was the man who lead the 
effort to preserve our lives. There was a bit more than a well deserved 
reverence to the moment. A special Air Force chopper came and got 
him and Pitbull told us he’d been in good shape as he departed. Later, 
when the barrages were somewhere else, Bob and I sat talking on 
some sandbags vantaging Co Roc. The sky had cleared and the last 
bits of sunlight were melting into the coming night.

“The flyboys usually don’t survive going down in the middle of the 
Dinks. I know he believed he was dead at worst, captured at best. 
No other choices, you know?” Bob stared out across the hills as his 
voice trailed off, “You don’t ever get that vulnerable, ever.”

“Yeah, when we got to him it wasn’t what I’d expected, not at all.” I 
added with growing disbelief. Someone or something had guided us 
through that venture and I began sweating all over again.

“Right, me, too. I really didn’t think we’d be able to bring him in. I was 
surprised as hell to see him moving,” he said and turned to me flush 
with smiling satisfaction, “But I’m sure glad we did! Add him to the 
Hall of Heroes, Kid with three toots on the harmonica!”

I watched the cloud collar winding around Co Roc, “Man, we got away 
with a big ‘Fuck you’ today, huh?”

Bob smiled wearily and looked towards the mountain, “I guess it’s 
what you’d call being overcome with salvation, you know? Hell, I’ve 
been there once or twice myself. Who hasn’t around here? It’s our 
lives we’re talking about, right?” He put his arm around my shoulder, 
“We did something good today, bub, worthy. That doesn’t happen 
very often, especially here.” He laughed happily, “The gods were 

with us today, my boy, with us all the way. It’s things like that which 
wind up changing lives, pointing you in another direction, exposing 
you to other options.”

We were both so really beat. I felt wrung out like someone had tried 
to squeeze the life out of me. I was marveling about my fatigue. We 
hadn’t really done much; but something had reached in, something 
had rearranged our actions. Maybe it was the other guys feelings 
which had drained me. We’d all been affected by the pilot’s passionate 
gratitude, an expression of thanksgiving I’d never, never-ever, seen 
a human being display before. I was getting lost wondering about 
discoveries, you know, wondering how far certain feats and ordeals 
can reach in, how they can bind themselves to your soul.

“I never felt the way I did today, you know, feeling someone else’s 
sincerity, feeling their powerful gratitude so powerfully. It was so, so 
vast, you know?”, I said with relief.

Bob looked at me kindly, “This is my fourth tour and I’ve never seen 
anything like that either. That guy was serious. He’d already accepted 
his death. He was getting ready for it and then, then, we stopped by.” 
His shoulders drooped and he put his hand on a sandbag as if to 
steady himself. “There’s so much that makes me tired these days. I 
don’t know, maybe I’ve been doing this too long. Maybe I’m getting 
too old for this.”, he whispered drained and dragging. I looked at him 
and it was as if I was seeing him for the first time. I felt an electric 
pulse surge through me. He’d lost a lot of weight and there were 
streaks of white in his hair now. He looked older than before, older 
than before we’d gone to get the pilot. I followed his gaze to Co Roc 
and wound up letting myself get lost.

“Hell, I never expected to make it this far.”, he let out as if he was 
waking up from a dream. “I had to make peace with that on my first 
tour, you know, knowing I’d be dead before it was all over. That was 
necessary ‘cause when you look at it, really look at it, it’s the only 
thing you can accept without question.”

The pilot had hit us deeply. I think we were all feeling like him in a 
way. I think it reminded us of how extremely vulnerable we all were 
when the bottom line revealed itself, when you couldn’t ignore it, 
when you realized it was part of the life, part of you.

Staring towards Co Roc it reached out. I was there for a moment. We 
were still talking, but it was more like we were talking with the mountain 
instead. He brought me back, “You’re learning what no one could teach 
you, Kid. It never stops coming at you. It’s like exploring the unknown, 
you know? There’s no end to it.” It came out in a wave of fatigue.

“I guess this is where it all begins then, right?”, I answered.

“Or ends, buddy.” and with that we faded into the approaching darkness. v
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SFA Chapter 78 September 2023 Chapter Meeting Photos by How Miller

1 	 Retired CSM Danny Orozco from the Green Beret Foundation gave an 
excellent presentation about how the foundation supports veterans with 
transitioning and applying for benefits.

2 	 Chapter Vice President James McLanahan and Danny Orozco
3 	 Len Fein gave the presentation a “thumbs up.”
4 	 Chapter Treasurer Richard Simonian was one of the many with questions 

during the presentation.
5 	 Danny Orozco speaking with Chapter Secretary Gary Macnamara, at 

left, and Ramon Rodriquez, right.
6 	 Gus Populus and Mike Lanterman    7   Jim Light
8 	 Don Gonneville and Lani Dolick    9   Kenn Miller enjoying the Sentinel.     

10  Mike Jameson and Ham Salley    11.  Jim Lockhart    12  Erik Berg
13	 Chapter 78’ Millers—Mark, How, and Kenn    14  Don Gonneville
15	 How captured this flock of starlings in flight just outside when leaving.

Scan to visit our 
YouTube channel @sfachapter78

Scan to follow us on Twitter 
@SFA_ch78
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Visit SpecialForces78.com to read the Sentinel online 
and learn more about SFA Chapter 78.

Return to TOC ➲

https://www.specialforces78.com

	Table of Contents/From the Editor
	From The President
	Opinion—The time is right to honor the Vietnam War's most secret warriros
	Book Review—Jon Robert Cavaiani: A Wolf Remembered by John Siegfied and Dr. Michael B. Evers
	Hickory Hill
	The Pilot
	SFA Chapter 78 September 2023 Chapter Meeting

